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ARTICLE I 

History of Insurance Regulation

Section 1.1. Early Insurance Companies and State Regulation

Fire insurance companies were first organized in the U.S. in the mid-1700’s.  The oldest of these was a fire insurance company whose organization was facilitated by Benjamin Franklin called The Philadelphia Contributionship for the Insuring of Houses from Loss by Fire.  This mutual company has been in continuous operation since March 25, 1752 and was incorporated under the laws of Pennsylvania on February 20, 1768.  The company remains in existence today and does business under its original name.

The oldest stock property/casualty insurers in the U.S. are the Insurance Company of North America (incorporated in Pennsylvania on April 14, 1794 under the name The President and Directors of the Insurance Company of North America) and The Insurance Company of the State of Pennsylvania (incorporated in Pennsylvania on April 18, 1794).  Both insurers continue to operate – Insurance Company of North America is a member company of the ACE group and The Insurance Company of the State of Pennsylvania is a member of the AIG group.

Among the oldest life insurance companies in New York (and the United States) are MONY Life Insurance Company (organized as Mutual Life Insurance Company of New York and licensed in New York on April 12, 1842), New York Life Insurance Company (organized as Nautilus Insurance Company and licensed in New York on April 17, 1845), AXA Equitable Life Insurance Company (organized as Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States and licensed in New York on July 25, 1859) and Metropolitan Life Insurance Company (organized as National Travelers Insurance Company and licensed in New York on May 14, 1866).

For these early years, the insurance business was regulated by the states.
Section 1.2. Paul v. Virginia (1869)

In 1869, the United States Supreme Court, in Paul v. Virginia,
 held that the business of insurance did not constitute interstate commerce and, therefore, constituted local transactions to be governed by state law.

Section 1.3. Development of State Insurance Law

State regulation of insurance came into its own in the late 1800s.  The New York Superintendent of Insurance was first created in 1859,
 and the first comprehensive insurance law was enacted in New York in 1892.
  The New York insurance law was substantially revised in 1906 (following the issuance of the Armstrong Committee Report)
 and was recodified in 1939.

Section 1.4. U.S. v. South-Eastern Underwriters Ass’n (1945)

In 1945, the United States Supreme Court overruled the doctrine of Paul v. Virginia and held that the federal antitrust laws applied to an association of underwriters which was indicted and charged with conspiracy to restrain and monopolize commerce in fire insurance.  In U.S. v. South-Eastern Underwriters Ass’n,
 the Supreme Court held that (i) the Sherman Anti-Trust Act applied to the interstate insurance business, and (ii) fire insurance transactions which stretched across state lines constitute “commerce among the several states” as to make them subject to regulation by the U.S. Congress under the Commerce Clause of the U.S. Constitution.

This ruling threatened the very viability of state regulation of insurance.  Because of this, the U.S. Congress acted quickly and, by act of Congress, placed the regulation of insurance back into the hands of the states.
Section 1.5. McCarran-Ferguson Act (1945) 

In 1945, the U.S. Congress passed the McCarran-Ferguson Insurance Regulation Act, the purpose of which was to assure that primary responsibility for insurance regulation would remain with the states.

Codified as 15 U.S.C. §§ 1011-1015, the McCarran-Ferguson Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 1011-1012) provides as follows:

Section 1011. Declaration of policy.  Congress hereby declares that the continued regulation and taxation by the several States of the business of insurance is in the public interest, and that silence on the part of the Congress shall not be construed to impose any barrier to the regulation or taxation of such business by the several States.

Section 1012. Regulation by State law; Federal law relating specifically to insurance; applicability of certain Federal laws after June 30, 1948.

(a) State regulation.  The business of insurance, and every person engaged therein, shall be subject to the laws of the several States which relate to the regulation or taxation of such business.

(b) Federal regulation.  No Act of Congress shall be construed to invalidate, impair, or supersede any law enacted by any State for the purpose of regulating the business of insurance, or which imposes a fee or tax upon such business, unless such Act specifically relates to the business of insurance:  Provided, That after June 30, 1948, the Act of July 2, 1890, as amended, known as the Sherman Act, and the Act of October 15, 1914, as amended, known as the Clayton Act, and the Act of September 26, 1914, known as the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended (15 U.S.C. 41 et seq.), shall be applicable to the business of insurance to the extent that such business is not regulated by State Law.

The McCarran–Ferguson Act was upheld as constitutional by the U.S. Supreme Court in 1946.

ARTICLE II 

Purposes of State Regulation of Insurance

The major purposes of state insurance regulation are described briefly in this Article and in further detail in the following Articles.

Section 2.1. Solvency of Insurers

Insurers promise to make certain payments to insureds, beneficiaries and claimants upon the happening of certain fortuitous events.  These promises are of little value if the insurer has no funds with which to pay claims.  Thus, the principal focus of state regulation of insurance is to assure the solvency of U.S. insurers so that they have funds available to pay policy claims when claims are due.  This is of special importance for long term liabilities like life insurance where the promise is made currently but the payment obligation may not be due for 60 or more years.

Section 2.2. Market Conduct of Insurers and Their Producers

Market conduct regulation seeks to assure that insurers and their producers act in a fair manner.  Thus, state insurance regulation regulates the actual insurance policies sold by insurers, may regulate the premiums to be paid for insurance (e.g. rates), prohibits misrepresentation, unfair discrimination, discrimination based on protected classes (e.g. race, color, creed, national origin, sex or marital status) and rebating and prohibits unfair practices in adjusting and settling claims.

Section 2.3. Regulation of Intermediaries and Other Service Persons

Most insurance is sold or bought through insurance agents or brokers.  Under state insurance regulation, these intermediaries must generally be licensed to sell, solicit or negotiate insurance in each state in which they do business.  If a licensed individual fails to comply with regulatory requirements imposed on her, the state insurance regulator may suspend or revoke her license.

In addition, many state insurance laws also regulate other insurance intermediaries and service persons, including consultants, surplus lines brokers, reinsurance intermediaries, managing general agents, third party administrators and adjusters.

ARTICLE III 

Solvency Regulation

Section 3.1. Solvency Margins

Most states require that an insurer have a minimum capital and surplus in order to be licensed to write any given kind or kinds of insurance.  For example, in New York, a domestic stock life insurer must have initial capital and surplus of at least $6 million and thereafter maintain a minimum capital of $2 million.
  This requirement is the same for the largest and the smallest domestic stock life insurer in New York.

In recognition that fixed capital requirements provide little protection from insurer failure (especially in the case of large insurers), the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (the “NAIC”) adopted its Risk-Based Capital (RBC) For Insurers Model Act in 1993.  This Model Act requires that an insurer maintain capital based on the risk inherent in its total business – its assets, liabilities and the amount and kinds of insurance it does.  New York enacted a law based on the Model Act for life insurers in 1993 and for property/casualty insurers in 2007.
  An expanded discussion of risk-based capital is found in Section 3.06
Section 3.2. Financial Reporting to Regulators (Unaudited)

One key element of solvency regulation is standard reporting of the financial condition of U.S. insurers to state insurance regulators in states in which they are licensed on an annual and quarterly basis.

The NAIC prepares standard forms of financial statements for life and property/casualty insurers (and other forms for other kinds of insurers).  Each state law generally incorporates by reference the NAIC standard form of financial statement as the form to be filed by insurers licensed in its state.
  Each annual financial statement requires disclosure of great detail on the business of the insurer including a balance sheet and income statement, statement of cash flows, schedules of premiums, losses and expenses, a listing of every invested asset owned, acquired and sold by the insurer, reporting of all derivative transactions, ceded and assumed reinsurance, loss development (for property/casualty insurers), premiums by state and transactions within the insurer’s holding company system.

The annual statement is due to be filed by the insurer by March 1 for the prior year ended December 31.  Quarterly statements are due to be filed by the insurer within 45 days after the end of each of the first three calendar quarters of each year.

Section 3.3. Audited Financial Statements

The NAIC Model Regulation Requiring Annual Audited Financial Reports requires that all insurers (other than certain exempted insurers) have an annual audit by an independent certified public accountant and file an audited financial report with the state insurance regulator on or before June 1 for the prior year ended December 31.

The audited financial report must include (i) a report of the independent certified public accountant, (ii) a balance sheet reporting admitted assets, liabilities, capital and surplus, (iii) a statement of operations, (iv) a statement of cash flows, (v) statement of changes in capital and surplus, and (vi) notes to financial statements.

Filing of an audited financial statement is a key to insurance solvency regulation.  Instead of relying on the word of the regulated insurer with respect to matters reported in unaudited financial statements, each state insurance regulator relies on an independent third party expert to confirm the accuracy of the financial statements of U.S. insurers.
Section 3.4. Statutory Accounting Practices

Like the form of annual and quarterly financial statement filed by U.S. insurers with state insurance regulators, the accounting rules applicable to U.S. insurers are also established and maintained by the NAIC.  The accounting rules are published by the NAIC in a multiple volume set called the “Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual” of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.  The manual is updated each March.  These accounting rules are often referred to as “statutory accounting practices” or “SAP” (compared to “generally accepted accounting principles” or “GAAP” for U.S. public businesses).  SAP is considered more regulatory by nature and gives a more conservative depiction of an insurer’s financial condition.

Like the form of unaudited annual and quarterly financial statements, the NAIC Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual is usually incorporated by reference by state law or regulation.

Section 3.5. Annual Actuarial Opinion

Another core element of U.S. insurance solvency regulation is the actuarial opinion that must accompany the annual statement.  The main liability of an insurer is the reserves it establishes for its insurance policy obligations.  Here again is an instance where state insurance regulators rely on experts – a qualified actuary engaged by the U.S. insurer to verify the accuracy of reserves.  The form and content of the actuarial opinion differs between life and property/casualty insurers.

A life insurer must include with its annual statement the statement of a qualified actuary, titled “Statement of Actuarial Opinion,” setting forth her opinion relating to policy reserves and other actuarial items.  The opinion must include the life insurer’s general account and its separate accounts.

A property/casualty insurer must include with its annual statement the statement of a qualified actuary, titled “Statement of Actuarial Opinion,” setting forth her opinion relating to loss and loss adjustment expense reserves.

Section 3.6. Risk-Based Capital

The NAIC Risk-Based Capital (RBC) For Insurers Model Act requires that each insurer prepare and submit to its domestic state insurance regulator, on or prior to each March 1, a report of its risk-based capital levels as of the prior December 31.
  The report must be in the form and contain the information required by the risk-based capital instructions, a set of instructions maintained and periodically revised by the NAIC.
The risk-based capital report reports the insurer’s “total adjusted capital” and its “authorized control level risk-based capital.”  If the insurer’s total adjusted capital is less than its authorized control level risk-based capital and the insurer fails to respond to a corrective order, the state insurance regulator may (but is not required) to take action to cause the insurer to be placed in rehabilitation or liquidation.

There are three other “risk-based capital” levels:  (i) mandatory control level risk-based capital (measured at .7 times authorized control level risk-based capital), (ii) regulatory action level risk-based capital (measured at 1.5 times authorized control level risk-based capital), and (iii) company action level risk-based capital (measured at 2.0 times authorized control level risk-based capital).
  There are varying remedies that a state insurance regulator can and must take if the insurer’s total adjusted capital drops below each of these risk-based capital levels.  All insurers seek to maintain total adjusted capital above the company action level risk-based capital level in order to avoid any kind of regulatory action.
  In a rare instance where state insurance laws take discretion away from the state insurance regulator, if an insurer’s total adjusted capital drops below the mandatory control level risk-based capital, the state insurance regulator is required to take action to cause the insurer to be placed into rehabilitation or liquidation if the event cannot be eliminated within 90 days.

While risk-based capital is intended to be confidential,
 an insurer’s total adjusted capital and authorized control level risk-based capital for each of the last 5 years are each reported in the insurer’s unaudited annual financial statement.  The annual unaudited financial statement is generally subject to disclosure under state freedom of information laws.  Thus, these numbers are made public.
Section 3.7. Insurance Holding Company Regulation

State insurance holding company regulation was first introduced in the 1970s – the NAIC adopted its Insurance Holding Company System Regulatory Act and Insurance Holding Company System Model Regulation at that time.  The Model Act and Model Regulation have undergone revisions since then to address deficiencies discovered by state insurance regulators.

The key elements of insurance holding company regulation are these:  (i) state insurance regulator approval of the acquisition of control of domestic insurers, (ii) prior review or approval of certain transactions between a controlled insurer and its affiliates, and (iii) regulation of large dividends (e.g. extraordinary dividends) made by stock controlled insurers.

(a) Acquisition of Control
The key elements of the acquisition of control provisions of the Model Act are these:  (i) a person cannot acquire control of a U.S. insurer without filing a prescribed statement with the insurer’s domestic state insurance regulator, (ii) a person cannot acquire control of a U.S. insurer without sending a copy of the statement filed with the insurer’s domestic state insurance regulator to the acquired insurer, and (iii) the domestic state insurance regulator must approve the acquisition.
  Some states also mandate a public hearing before the domestic state insurance regulator approves an application.
  The application made to acquire control of an insurer is on a form designated as “Form A.”

(b) Affiliate Transactions

Transactions between a controlled insurer and its affiliates are subject to regulatory standards and certain transactions are subject to prior regulatory notice and/or approval in order to avoid a parent of the insurer causing the insurer to enter into an affiliate transaction that may be detrimental to policyholders of the insurer.

The Model Act provides that transactions within a holding company system to which a controlled insurer is a party are subject to the following standards:

(a) The terms shall be fair and reasonable;

(b) Charges or fees for services performed shall be reasonable;

(c) Expenses incurred and payment received shall be allocated to the insurer in conformity with customary insurance accounting practices consistently applied;

(d) The books, accounts and records of each party to all such transactions shall be so maintained as to clearly and accurately disclose the nature and details of the transactions including such accounting information as is necessary to support the reasonableness of the charges or fees to the respective parties; and

(e) The insurer’s surplus as regards policyholders following any dividends or distributions to shareholder affiliates shall be reasonable in relation to the insurer’s outstanding liabilities and adequate to meet its financial needs.

The Model Act then provides that the following transactions involving a domestic insurer and any person in its holding company system may not be entered into unless the insurer has notified its domestic state insurance regulator in writing of its intention to enter into the transaction at least 30 days prior thereto and the state insurance regulator has not disapproved it within that period: (i) certain material sales, purchases, exchanges, loans, extensions of credit, or investments, (ii) loans or extensions of credit to any person who is not an affiliate, where the insurer makes loans or extensions of credit with the agreement or understanding that the proceeds of the transactions, in whole or in substantial part, are to be used to make loans or extensions of credit to, to purchase assets of, or to make investments in, any affiliate of the insurer making the loans or extensions of credit, (iii) certain material reinsurance agreements or modifications thereto, including those agreements which may require as consideration the transfer of assets from an insurer to a non-affiliate, if an agreement or understanding exists between the insurer and non-affiliate that any portion of the assets will be transferred to one or more affiliates of the insurer, (iv) all management agreements, service contracts, guarantees and all cost-sharing arrangements, (v) certain material quantifiable guarantees when made by a domestic insurer, and all guarantees which are not quantifiable as to amount, (vi) certain material direct or indirect acquisitions or investments in a person that controls the insurer, and (vii) any material transactions, specified by regulation, which the state insurance regulator determines may adversely affect the interests of the insurer’s policyholders.

(c) Extraordinary Dividends

The Model Act also regulates large dividends (called “extraordinary dividends”) made by controlled stock insurers, again to protect policyholders and assure that the insurer’s parent does not create a solvency issue by causing the insurer to declare and pay a large dividend.

The Model Act provides that:

No domestic insurer shall pay any extraordinary dividend or make any other extraordinary distribution to its shareholders until thirty (30) days after the commissioner has received notice of the declaration thereof and has not within that period disapproved the payment, or until the commissioner has approved the payment within the thirty-day period.

For purposes of this section, an extraordinary dividend or distribution includes any dividend or distribution of cash or other property, whose fair market value together with that of other dividends or distributions made within the preceding twelve (12) months exceeds the lesser of:
  (1) Ten percent (10%) of the insurer’s surplus as regards policyholders as of the 31st day of December next preceding; or  (2) The net gain from operations of the insurer, if the insurer is a life insurer, or the net income, if the insurer is not a life insurer, not including realized capital gains, for the twelve-month period ending the 31st day of December next preceding, but shall not include pro rata distributions of any class of the insurer’s own securities.

Many states also require that no dividend be paid by a domestic insurer except out of earned surplus (accumulated earnings of the insurer reported as “Unassigned Funds (Surplus)” on its statutory financial statements).

Section 3.8. Financial Examination

The NAIC Model Law on Examinations requires that the state insurance regulator conduct an examination of any insurer licensed to do business in the state at least once every five years.
  In lieu of examining licensed foreign and alien insurers, the state insurance regulator may accept an examination report on the insurer prepared by the insurer’s domestic state insurance regulator.
  So, in addition to relying on the annual audited financial statement (see Section 3.03) and annual actuarial opinion (see Section 3.05), state insurance regulators also rely on a comprehensive on-site examination of the business and affairs of the insurers they regulate.

Once final, the examination report is served upon the insurer and the insurer has 30 days to comment.  The state insurance regulator may adopt or reject the examination report.
  If adopted, the examination report may be held confidential for a designated time period, after which the state insurance regulator may open the report for public inspection so long as no court has stayed its publication.
  The New York Insurance Department makes examination reports available on its website – www.ins.state.ny.us.
The cost of the examination is often borne by the examined insurer.

Section 3.9. Regulation of Investments

An insurer’s liabilities are not backed exclusively by cash but by invested assets – bonds, stocks, mortgages, real estate, foreign investments.  In order to assure that an insurer’s investments are appropriate to support its liabilities, state insurance laws generally regulate the kinds and amounts of investments in which an insurer may invest.  Most state insurance laws regulate the investments of domestic insurers but some also regulate the investments of foreign licensed insurers.

While many areas of state insurance regulation have been implemented using very similar rules (based on NAIC model laws that were adopted in the 1970s and 1980s or earlier), state insurance regulation of investments is not particularly uniform.  This is due in large part to the fact that the NAIC has two model laws relating to insurer investments that were adopted in 1996 and 1997.  These are the NAIC Investments of Insurers Model Act (Defined Limits Version) and the Investments of Insurers Model Act (Defined Standards Version).

The Insurers Model Act (Defined Limits Version) includes general standards for investments (general qualifications, authorization, prohibited investments and valuation of investments) and includes detailed rules on the kinds and amounts of permitted investments for life and property/casualty insurers.
  The Investments of Insurers Model Act (Defined Standards Version) sets out general standards for investments (authorization and prudence) and provides for very broad classes of permitted investments subject to aggregate (and some individual) limitations for some categories.

Under New York law, life and property/casualty insurers have different investment authority for both non-subsidiary investments
 and subsidiary investments.
  The New York investment law for life insurers is generally viewed as more flexible than the investment law for property/casualty insurers.

Section 3.10. Regulation of Reinsurance

A key asset of insurers, particularly property/casualty insurers, is recoverables under reinsurance ceded to reinsurers under a reinsurance agreement.  Reinsurance has been defined as “an insurance transaction by which the assuming insurer agrees to indemnify the ceding insurer in whole or in part against liability or losses that the ceding insurer might incur under a separate contract of insurance with its insured.”

The rules governing whether or not “credit for reinsurance” will be allowed a domestic ceding insurer as either an asset or a reduction from liability on account of reinsurance ceded on the balance sheet of the domestic insurer are set out in the NAIC Credit For Reinsurance Model Act
 and the NAIC Credit For Reinsurance Model Regulation.
  For financial statement reporting purposes, a ceding insurer’s liability for any given policy will be reduced (“credit for reinsurance” will be allowed) for reinsurance ceded to a reinsurer that meets certain standards.

In general, under the Model Act, credit for reinsurance will be allowed under the following situations: (i) the reinsurer is licensed to transact insurance in the state, (ii) the reinsurer is an accredited reinsurer in the state (is licensed in at least one state, maintains surplus of at least $20 million and files certain documents with the state insurance regulator), (iii) maintains at least $20 million in surplus and is domiciled in a state that has substantially similar reinsurance credit rules as the ceding insurer’s state of domicile, or (iv) the reinsurer establishes a multiple beneficiary trust funded by permitted investments (and in certain cases, a surplus) enough to collateralize the entire obligations ceded to the reinsurer by all U.S. ceding insurers (Lloyd’s maintains such a trust).

If the reinsurer does not meet these standards, then credit for reinsurance ceded to an unauthorized reinsurer will be allowed if the reinsurance recoverables are fully collateralized by certain permitted security – funds withheld by the ceding insurer, a special reinsurance letter of credit or assets deposited in the single beneficiary reinsurance trust.

Credit for reinsurance will generally be allowed under state law only if the reinsurance agreement contains the following provisions: (i) an insolvency clause;
 (ii) a service of suit clause, in the case of cessions to an unauthorized or unaccredited reinsurer;
 (iii) an entire contract provision;
 (iv) a provision that settlements under the agreement be made no less frequently that quarterly;
 and (v) that the agreement meet requirements for “risk transfer.”

ARTICLE IV 

Market Conduct Regulation

Section 4.1. Regulation of Insurance Policy Forms

Under most state insurance laws, policy forms are subject to prior regulatory approval in the state in which the policy is being sold.  Thus, if an insurer wants to offer a form of insurance policy in all states, it must generally obtain 50 separate state insurance regulatory consents.

Under New York law, life, accident and health and annuity policy forms are subject to prior regulatory approval.
  However, as an alternative, an insurer may submit a policy form for expedited approval provided that the submission includes a certification that the policy form complies with all applicable laws and regulations.
  The grounds for disapproval are broad.  New York law provides that:

The superintendent may disapprove any life insurance policy form, or any form of annuity contract or group annuity certificate, or any form of funding agreement for delivery or issuance for delivery in this state, if its issuance would be prejudicial to the interests of policyholders or members or it contains provisions which are unjust, unfair or inequitable.

Under New York law, property/casualty policy forms are generally subject to approval – but the policy form will be deemed approved unless the state insurance regulator has objected to the policy form within 30 days of filing.
  Again, the standard for disapproval is quite broad:

. . . no policy form shall be delivered or issued for delivery unless it has been filed with the superintendent and either he has approved it, or thirty days have elapsed and he has not disapproved it as misleading or violative of public policy.

Prior to the enactment of the federal Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002,
 the New York Superintendent of Insurance used this broad policy form approval standard and rejected the use of terrorism exclusions in property/casualty insurance policies as “misleading and/or against public policy.”

Section 4.2. Regulation of Rates

Regulation of policy rates (premiums) varies by state and by kind of insurance.  Property/casualty rates may be subject to prior approval, “file and use” and “use and file” regulatory schemes.

Under New York law, rates for workers’ compensation, personal automobile insurance and certain other kinds of insurance are subject to prior regulatory approval.
  Rates for other property/casualty kinds of insurance are subject to filing with the state insurance regulator prior to use.
  In addition, New York law subjects property/casualty rates in problem markets designated by the state insurance regulator to so-called “flexible rate limitations” – rate changes below the threshold are not subject to prior regulatory approval but rate changes above the thresholds are subject to prior regulatory approval.
  The New York rating law for property/casualty insurance provides that:

Rates shall not be excessive, inadequate, unfairly discriminatory, destructive of competition or detrimental to the solvency of insurers.

Under New York law, premiums for individual and small group accident and health insurance are subject to prior regulatory approval.
  Again, the standard for disapproval is quite broad:

The superintendent may refuse such approval if he or she finds that such premiums are excessive, inadequate, or unfairly discriminatory.

Section 4.3. Unfair Trade Practices

Most states have laws that prohibit insurers from engaging in “unfair trade practices.”  The NAIC Unfair Trade Practices Act was one of the first NAIC model laws, having been first adopted in 1947 shortly after enactment of the McCarran-Ferguson Act in 1945 (see Section 1.05).

The Model Act provides that:

It is an unfair trade practice for any insurer to commit any practice defined in Section 4 of this Act if:

A. It is committed flagrantly and in conscious disregard of this Act or of any rules promulgated hereunder; or 

B. It has been committed with such frequency to indicate a general business practice to engage in that type of conduct.

Among the kinds of practices defined in Section 4 of the Model Act are these: (i) misrepresentation and false advertising of insurance policies, (ii) unfair discrimination in premiums, policy terms and conditions or policy benefits, (iii) boycott, coercion and intimidation, (iv) redlining, (v) discrimination based on race, color, creed or national origin, sex or marital status, and (vi) rebating.

Violation of the law may result in an order by the state insurance regulator for the insurer to cease and desist from engaging in the prohibited acts and monetary penalties.

Even though the Model Law provides that “Nothing herein shall be construed to create or imply a private cause of action for a violation of this Act.,”
 few state insurance unfair trade practice statutes expressly forbid a private right of action for violation of the statute.  Courts have considered whether these statutes contain an implied private right of action.  Few courts have concluded that there is an implied right of action for violation of the unfair trade practice statutes.  The majority rule is that there is no private right of action.
Section 4.4. Unfair Claims Practices

Like the NAIC Unfair Trade Practices Act, the NAIC Unfair Claims Settlement Practices Act provides that:

It is an improper claims practice for a domestic, foreign or alien insurer transacting business in this state to commit an act defined in Section 4 of this Act if: 

A. It is committed flagrantly and in conscious disregard of this Act or any rules promulgated hereunder; or 

B. It has been committed with such frequency to indicate a general business practice to engage in that type of conduct.

Among the kinds of practices defined in Section 4 of the Model Act are these: (i) compelling insureds or beneficiaries to institute suits to recover amounts due under its policies by offering substantially less than the amounts ultimately recovered in suits brought by them, (ii) refusing to pay claims without conducting a reasonable investigation, and (iii) failing to affirm or deny coverage of claims within a reasonable time after proof of loss statements have been completed and communicated to the insurer.

Violation of the law may result in an order by the state insurance regulator for the insurer to cease and desist from engaging in the prohibited acts and monetary penalties.
  Additional detailed standards for claims settlement practices are set out in the NAIC Unfair Life, Accident and Health Claims Settlement Practices Model Regulation
 and the NAIC Unfair Property/Casualty Claims Settlement Practices Model Regulation.

Section 4.5. Market Conduct Examination

In order to determine whether licensed insurers are complying with the various market conduct laws and regulations applicable to them, many states conduct periodic market conduct examinations of licensed insurers.  These examinations may be done in conjunction with a required financial examination (see Section 3.08) or as a stand-alone market conduct examination.

Life insurance market conduct examinations often focus on sales practices (advertising, policy illustrations and replacements) and claims while property/casualty market conduct examinations often focus on policy form and rate regulation compliance and claims.  Insurers are frequently fined for regulatory violations.

ARTICLE V 

Enforcement Actions Against Insurers

Section 5.1. In General

If an insurer fails to comply with an insurance regulatory requirement in a state, it may be subject to one or more kinds of sanctions in an enforcement action brought by that state’s insurance regulator.  The kinds of typically available sanctions are described in this Article

Section 5.2. Monetary Penalties

An enforcement action may result in the offending insurer acknowledging the violation and paying a monetary penalty.  A state may have a general penalty provision that applies to all violations of law
 but may also have penalties that may be imposed for specific violations of law.
  A penalty may be imposed for each offense
 or for each day a filing that is due is delayed.
  For example, if an insurer issues a policy on a policy form that was supposed to be approved but was not, then each policy issued on the non-approved form may be a separate offense subject to a monetary penalty.

Section 5.3. Injunctions

If the offending insurer does not voluntarily cease its actions, then a state insurance regulator may go to court and seek an injunction.  In New York, the Superintendent of Insurance may maintain and prosecute, in the name of the people of the State of New York, an action against the offending insurer, its officers or directors, for the purpose of obtaining an injunction restraining the persons from doing any acts in violation of the provisions of the New York Insurance Law.
   The court may grant the petition if it finds that a defendant is threatening or is likely to do any act in violation of the New York Insurance Law and that the violation will cause irreparable injury to the interests of the people of the State of New York.

Section 5.4. License Non-Renewal

Another sanction that can be imposed in an enforcement action is non-renewal of an insurer’s license.  For example, under New York law, the Superintendent of Insurance may refuse to issue or renew a domestic insurer’s license to do an insurance business in the state if, in her judgment, the refusal would “best promote the interests of the people of this state.”
   In addition, the Superintendent of Insurance may refuse a license to domestic stock insurer if she finds, after notice and hearing, that any director of the insurer has been convicted of any crime involving fraud, dishonesty, or like moral turpitude, or is an untrustworthy person.

Section 5.5. Criminal Sanctions

Criminal sanctions may be imposed as part of an enforcement action.  Under New York law, every violation of any provision of  the New York Insurance Law is a misdemeanor, unless it constitutes a felony.

Section 5.6. Receivership

Among the many grounds for placing a domestic insurer in rehabilitation or liquidation (see Section 8.04) is the following:

Within the previous five (5) years the insurer has willfully and continuously violated its charter or articles of incorporation, its bylaws, any insurance law of this state, or any valid order of the commissioner”

 Thus, a state insurance regulator may seek to place an insurer that continuously and willfully violates its domestic state insurance law into receivership.

Section 5.7. Restitution

Some states may impose restitution as a sanction for an enforcement action.  Under Florida law, an insurer that discovers a non-willful violation of the insurance law is required to correct the violation and, if restitution is due, make restitution to all affected persons.
  The failure of an insurer to make restitution when due as required constitutes a willful violation of Florida law.

Similarly, under Maryland law, instead of or in addition to suspending or revoking an insurer’s license, the Commissioner of Insurance may require the holder to make restitution to any person who has suffered financial injury because of the violation of the insurance law.

ARTICLE VI 

Regulation of Intermediaries and Service Persons

Section 6.1. In General

State insurance laws regulate many different kinds of insurance intermediaries and service persons.  The purpose of licensing is to: (i) in some cases, establish qualifications for licensing, (ii) require that fees be paid as a condition of licensing, and (iii) provide for the suspension or revocation of the license of a person who violates applicable law.

This Article identifies the kinds of intermediaries and service persons that are licensed under state insurance laws.
Section 6.2. Agents, Brokers and Producers

An agent is typically defined as a person that is an authorized agent of an insurer that sells, solicits or negotiates insurance.
  The key is that the agent is an agent of the insurer.  Agents are often licensed in their name and then “appointed” by each insurer for which they are designated an agent.
A broker is typically defined as a person that, for compensation, sells, solicits or negotiates insurance on behalf of an insured.
  The key is that the broker is an agent of the insured – the purchaser of insurance.  Although engaged by the insured, brokers are nevertheless usually compensated by a commission paid by the insurer with which the broker has placed insurance on behalf of an insured.

Modern state insurance laws have done away with separate categories of agent and broker and use the term “producer” to define a person that sells, solicits or negotiates insurance.  Producers that act as an agent of an insurer must nevertheless still be appointed by the insurer in many states.
  Many state insurance laws regulating producers are modeled after the NAIC Producer Licensing Model Act. 

Section 6.3. Consultants

An insurance consultant is a person who receives any money, fee, commission or thing of value for examining, appraising, reviewing or evaluating any insurance policy, annuity or pension contract, plan or program or makes recommendations or gives advice with regard to any insurance policy, annuity or pension contract, plan or program.

Section 6.4. Surplus Lines Brokers

State insurance laws generally require that an insurer that transacts insurance in the state be licensed by the state insurance regulator.
  However, most states recognize a special class of insurers – surplus lines insurers (called “excess lines insurers” in New York) – that may insure risks in the state without a license.

Surplus lines insurance is not marketed directly by the surplus lines insurer.  Instead, special licensed brokers – surplus lines brokers – access the surplus lines insurers on behalf of purchasers of insurance or their insurance brokers.  In addition, state insurance laws may do any or all of the following as respect to surplus lines placements: (i) require that the surplus lines insurer meet certain financial standards, (ii) limit the kinds of business that may be placed with surplus lines insurers – sometimes called “export lists,” and (iii) require that the surplus lines broker make a diligent search of licensed insurers with which to place the business (and being declined by the licensed insurers) before placing the business with the unlicensed surplus lines insurer.

The NAIC Nonadmitted Insurance Model Act defines a “surplus lines licensee” (a surplus lines broker) as follows:

an individual, firm or corporation licensed under Section 5 of this Act to place insurance on properties, risks or exposures located or to be performed in this state with nonadmitted insurers eligible to accept such insurance.

The NAIC Model Act provides that a person may not procure a contract of surplus lines insurance with a nonadmitted insurer unless the person possesses a current surplus lines insurance license issued by the state insurance regulator.
  The Model Act further provides that the state insurance regulator may issue a surplus lines license to a qualified holder of a current property and casualty agent’s or broker’s or general agent’s license – subject to payment of a fee, submission of a license application, passing a qualifying examination and satisfying other requirements.

Section 6.5. Reinsurance Intermediaries

The NAIC Reinsurance Intermediary Model Act defines two different kinds of reinsurance intermediaries – a broker and manager – as follows:

“Reinsurance intermediary-broker” (RB) means a person, other than an officer or employee of the ceding insurer, firm, association or corporation who solicits, negotiates or places reinsurance cessions or retrocessions on behalf of a ceding insurer without acting as a RM on behalf of the insurer.

“Reinsurance intermediary-manager” (RM) means a person, firm, association or corporation, whether known as a RM, manager or other similar term, who has authority to bind or manages all or part of the assumed reinsurance business of a reinsurer (including the management of a separate division, department or underwriting office) and acts as an agent for the reinsurer [subject to certain exceptions]

In other words, the broker represents the purchaser of reinsurance (the ceding insurer) and the manager represents the seller of reinsurance (the reinsurer).

Under the Model Act, a reinsurance intermediary-broker must usually be licensed in a state in which it has an office (State A) and can usually act in another state where it has no office (State B) without a license if State A’s reinsurance intermediary law is substantially similar to that of State B’s.

Under the Model Act, a reinsurance intermediary-manager must usually be licensed as an insurance producer or reinsurance intermediary (i) in the state of domicile of the reinsurer for which it acts as manager, and (ii) in a state in which it maintains an office. 

Section 6.6. Managing General Agents

The NAIC Managing General Agents Act defines a managing general agent (“MGA”) as follows:

“Managing general agent” (MGA) means any person who:

(1) Manages all or part of the insurance business of an insurer (including the management of a separate division, department or underwriting office); and

(2) Acts as an agent for such insurer whether known as a managing general agent, manager or other similar term, who, with or without the authority, either separately or together with affiliates, produces, directly or indirectly, and underwrites an amount of gross direct written premium equal to or more than five percent (5%) of the policyholder surplus as reported in the last annual statement of the insurer in any one quarter or year together with the following activity related to the business produced adjusts or pays claims in excess of $10,000 per claim or negotiates reinsurance on behalf of the insurer.

The Model Act provides that no person shall act in the capacity of an MGA with respect to risks located in this state for an insurer licensed in this state unless such person is a licensed producer in this state.
  Some state laws vary from this and require that a special MGA license be acquired.  In any case, licensing is required in each state in which the MGA acts.  So, if an entity acts as an MGA for an insurer in all states, licensing as a producer or MGA will generally be required in all states.  Although the Model Act does not expressly exclude third party administrators from the definition of an MGA, the third party administrators law (see Section 6.07) excludes MGAs.  So the general expectation is that MGAs are to property/casualty insurance what third party administrators are to life and health insurance and annuities.

Section 6.7. Third Party Administrators

The NAIC Third Party Administrator Statute defines an “administrator” or “third party administrator” or “TPA” as follows:

a person who directly or indirectly underwrites, collects charges or premiums from, or adjusts or settles claims on residents of this state, in connection with life, annuity or health coverage offered or provided by an insurer

There are many exceptions, including an exception for an insurer that is authorized to transact insurance in the state and an exception for an MGA.

Licensing is required in all states in which the TPA acts.  TPA licensing is required in many, but not all states.

Section 6.8. Adjusters

Until 2005, there was no NAIC model law on the regulation of adjusters.  In 2005, the NAIC adopted its Public Adjusters Licensing Model Act and commenced drafting an independent adjuster licensing guideline.  Not all states regulate and require licensing of adjusters.  There are usually two kinds of adjusters that are regulated – public adjusters that are hired by insureds that have property loss (the adjuster negotiates on behalf of the insured with the insurer) and independent adjusters that act for one or more insurers in adjusting claims for the insurers.

The NAIC Public Adjusters Licensing Model Act defines a “public adjuster” as follows:

any person who, for compensation or any other thing of value on behalf of the insured: 

(1) Acts or aids, solely in relation to first party claims arising under insurance contracts that insure the real or personal property of the insured, on behalf of an insured in negotiating for, or effecting the settlement of, a claim for loss or damage covered by an insurance contract; 

(2) Advertises for employment as an public adjuster of insurance claims or solicits business or represents himself or herself to the public as an public adjuster of first party insurance claims for losses or damages arising out of policies of insurance that insure real or personal property; or 

(3) Directly or indirectly solicits business, investigates or adjusts losses, or advises an insured about first party claims for losses or damages arising out of policies of insurance that insure real or personal property for another person engaged in the business of adjusting losses or damages covered by an insurance policy, for the insured.

If a person acts as a TPA in a state and adjusts life, health or annuity claims but the state’s law does not require licensing as a TPA, the person may have to be licensed as an adjuster – New York law requires this, at least for health insurance.

Section 6.9. Enforcement Actions

Like insurers, if an insurance intermediary fails to comply with an insurance regulatory requirement in a state, it may be subject to one or more kinds of sanctions in an enforcement action brought by that state’s insurance regulator.
For example, a state insurance regulator may place on probation, suspend, revoke or refuse to issue or renew an insurance producer’s license or may levy a civil penalty or any combination of actions, for violating any insurance laws, or violating any regulation, subpoena or order of the state insurance regulator or of another state’s insurance regulator.

ARTICLE VII 

The NAIC

Section 7.1. History; Purpose

The NAIC was organized in 1871.  One of its first objectives was the adoption by all states of a uniform blank for insurer annual financial reports – a core function still conducted by the NAIC (see Section 3.02).

The NAIC was previously an unincorporated association, but was formally organized as a nonstock corporation under Delaware law on October 6, 1999.  Its Certificate of Incorporation, Article VI, provides that its purposes include:

. . . to assist state insurance regulators, individually and collectively, in serving the public interest and achieving the following fundamental insurance regulatory goals in a responsive, efficient and cost-effective manner, consistent with the wishes of its members:

(a) Protect the public interest, promote competitive markets and facilitate the fair and equitable treatment of insurance consumers;

(b) Promote, in the public interest, the reliability, solvency and financial solidity of insurance institutions; and

(c) Support and improve state regulation of insurance.

The membership of the NAIC consists of state insurance regulators from the District of Columbia and each of the states of the U.S., including its territories and insular possessions.

The NAIC generally meets quarterly to conduct its affairs.  Activities are conducted through committees, subcommittees, task forces and working groups staffed by state insurance regulators and their staffs with final action taken by the NAIC members as a whole.  The NAIC has its own staff that supports the activities of the state insurance regulators.  A listing of committees and committee charges (current assignments) together with information on current activities is available on the website of the NAIC – www.naic.org (select “Committees and Activities”).  The NAIC publishes minutes of its meetings in the form of the NAIC Proceedings, which are available for purchase from the NAIC.  NAIC Proceedings are also available from the following subscription services:  Westlaw and Lexis.
Section 7.2. Model Law and Regulations

One of the key activities of the NAIC is the adoption of model laws and regulations, and amendments thereto.  These model laws and regulations (many of which are referred to in this paper) are recommended for each state to enact (through their state legislatures) or promulgate (as regulations to the extent they may be promulgated by a state insurance regulator).

The NAIC publishes a multiple-volume set of model laws and regulations titled “Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines” which collects all current model laws and regulations.  Each model law or regulation includes (i) the text of the model law or regulation together with its history (citing to the NAIC Proceedings), (ii) a listing of states that have enacted the model or a related law, and its citation, and (iii) usually a history of the model law or regulation prepared by the NAIC staff.
Section 7.3. Statutory Financial Statement Forms

The unaudited annual and quarterly financial statements filed by licensed insurers with state insurance regulators in the states in which they are licensed are maintained by the NAIC (see Section 3.02).  The subcommittee charged with this task is the Financial Condition (E) Subcommittee, which conducts its work through the Accounting Practices and Procedures (E) Task Force and its Blanks Working Group (the form of financial statement is often called the “annual statement blank”).

Section 7.4. Statutory Accounting Practices

The statutory accounting practices used to complete the unaudited annual and quarterly financial statements (see Section 3.02) and audited financial statement (see Section 3.03) of U.S. insurers are also maintained by the NAIC.  The subcommittee charged with this task is the Financial Condition (E) Subcommittee, which conducts its work through the Accounting Practices and Procedures (E) Task Force and its Statutory Accounting Practices Working Group.  The statutory accounting practices are republished each March as the “Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual.”  For subscribers to the Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual, interim updates are available on the NAIC’s website, www.naic.org.
Section 7.5. Risk-Based Capital Formula

The risk-based capital formulas used to complete the annual risk-based capital report filed by U.S. insurers with state insurance regulators (see Section 3.06) are also maintained by the NAIC.  The subcommittee charged with this task is the Financial Condition (E) Subcommittee, which conducts its work through the Capital Adequacy (E) Task Force.

Section 7.6. Securities Valuation

While state insurance laws usually prescribe permitted investments that may be made by U.S. insurers (see Section 3.09), the NAIC establishes the rules for valuing the investments for purposes of presenting the “statement value” of the investment on a statutory financial statement.  These rules are set out in the “Purposes and Procedures Manual of the NAIC Securities Valuation Office.”  New York law allows the New York Superintendent of Insurance to require that insurers use the NAIC securities valuation method.
  This manual is generally updated twice a year in July and December.  Revisions are made by the NAIC as needed.  The subcommittee charged with this task is the Financial Condition (E) Subcommittee, which conducts its work through the Valuation of Securities (E) Task Force.
For more information on the Securities Valuation Office, see www.naic.org (select “Securities Valuation Office”).
Section 7.7. International Insurers Department

The NAIC International Insurers Department prepares and disseminates a quarterly listing (Non-Admitted Insurers Quarterly Listing) of Alien Non-Admitted Insurers.  On this list appear the names of those insurers who qualify for listing as having met the standards set forth in the “Plan of Operation For Listing of Alien Non-Admitted Insurers.”  Many states use this listing as a condition to an alien insurer becoming an eligible surplus lines insurer in their state.
ARTICLE VIII 

State Insurance Insolvency Laws

Section 8.1. In General

When a U.S. insurer fails, it is not subject to the federal Bankruptcy Code but instead to a receivership proceeding under the state insurance insolvency laws of its state of incorporation.

This Article describes actions that a state insurance regulator can take against troubled insurers prior to receivership and summarizes some key elements of state insurance insolvency law.

Section 8.2. Remedial Action (Licensed Insurers)

State insurance laws often authorize the state insurance regulator to take remedial action against a potentially troubled, licensed insurer short of a formal proceeding.  Under the NAIC Model Regulation to Define Standards and a Commissioner’s Authority For Companies Deemed to Be in Hazardous Financial Condition, if the state insurance regulator determines that the continued operation of an insurer licensed to transact business in the state may be hazardous to the policyholders or the general public, then the state insurance regulator may issue an order requiring the insurer to: (i) reduce the total amount of present and potential liability for policy benefits by reinsurance, (ii) reduce, suspend or limit the volume of business being accepted or renewed, (iii) reduce general insurance and commission expenses by specified methods, (iv) increase the insurer’s capital and surplus, (v) suspend or limit the declaration and payment of dividend by an insurer to its stockholders or to its policyholders, (vi) file reports in a form acceptable to the commissioner concerning the market value of an insurer’s assets, (vii) limit or withdraw from certain investments or discontinue certain investment practices to the extent the commissioner deems necessary, (viii) document the adequacy of premium rates in relation to the risks insured, and (ix) file, in addition to regular annual statements, interim financial reports on the form adopted by the NAIC or in such format as promulgated by the state insurance regulator.

Section 8.3. Supervision (Licensed Insurer)

Under the NAIC Administrative Supervision Model Act, a licensed insurer may be subject to administrative supervision by the state insurance regulator if upon examination or at any other time it appears in the regulator’s discretion that: (i) the insurer’s condition renders the continuance of its business hazardous to the public or to its insureds, (ii) the insurer has exceeded its powers granted under its certificate of authority and applicable law, (iii) the insurer has failed to comply with the applicable provisions of the state insurance law, (iv) the business of the insurer is being conducted fraudulently, or (v) the insurer gives its consent.

  During the period of supervision, the state insurance regulator or her appointee serves as the administrative supervisor.  The state insurance regulator may provide that the insurer may not do any of the following things during the period of supervision without the prior approval of the state insurance regulator or administrative supervisor: (i) dispose of, convey or encumber any of its assets or its business in force, (ii) withdraw any of its bank accounts, (iii) lend any of its funds, (iv) invest any of its funds, (v) transfer any of its property, (vi) incur any debt, obligation or liability, (vii) merge or consolidate with another company, (viii) approve new premiums or renew any policies, (ix) enter into any new reinsurance contract or treaty, (x) terminate, surrender, forfeit, convert or lapse any insurance policy, certificate or contract, except for nonpayment of premiums due, (xi) release, pay or refund premium deposits, accrued cash or loan values, unearned premiums, or other reserves on any insurance policy, certificate or contract, (xii) make any material change in management, or (xiii) increase salaries and benefits of officers or directors or the preferential payment of bonuses, dividends or other payments deemed preferential.

Section 8.4. Rehabilitation or Liquidation (Domestic Insurer)

(a) Grounds for Commencing Proceeding

Among the 22 grounds for placing a domestic insurer in rehabilitation or liquidation are the following: (i) the insurer is insolvent, and (ii) the insurer is in such condition that the further transaction of business would be hazardous, financially or otherwise, to its policyholders, creditors or the public.
  It is the later ground that is the trigger for many insurer proceedings.  Generally speaking, a rehabilitation proceeding is commenced where there is an expectation that the troubled insurer can emerge from rehabilitation and become a viable insurer once again.  A liquidation proceeding is used when there is no expectation of reviving a troubled insurer.

(b) Liquidation or Rehabilitation Order

The state insurance regulator applies to state court for an order of rehabilitation or liquidation.
  The order appoints the state insurance regulator as the rehabilitator or liquidator and directs the rehabilitator or liquidator to take possession of the assets of the insurer.

(c) Notice; Collection of Assets

Notice of the proceeding is delivered to other state insurance regulators, guaranty associations (see ARTICLE IX) in states in which the insurer did business.
  In the case of a liquidation, the liquidator collects assets of the insurer
 and makes a proposal to distribute assets.

(d) Automatic Stay

Subject to certain exceptions, the commencement of a rehabilitation or liquidation delinquency proceeding operates as a stay, applicable to all persons, of (i) the commencement or continuation of a judicial, administrative or other action or proceeding against the insurer that was or could have been commenced before the commencement of the proceeding or to recover a claim against the insurer that arose before the commencement of the proceeding, (ii) the enforcement against the insurer or against property of the insurer of a judgment obtained before the commencement of the proceeding, (iii) any act to obtain or retain possession of property of the insurer or of property from the insurer or to exercise control over property or records of the insurer, (iv) any act to create, perfect or enforce any lien against property of the insurer, (v) any act to collect, assess or recover a claim against the insurer that arose before the commencement of a proceeding, (iv) the commencement or continuation of an action or proceeding against a reinsurer of the insurer, by the holder of a claim against the insurer, seeking reinsurance recoveries that are contractually due to the insurer, (vii) the commencement or continuation of an action or proceeding by a governmental unit to terminate or revoke an insurance license, and (viii) termination, failure to renew, suspension of performance, declaration of default, demand for additional, substitute, or replacement security or performance, or other adverse action, with respect to any contract, agreement, or lease if the sole basis for action is (x) the fact that the insurer is the subject of a proceeding, and/or (y) the fact that one or more of the insurer’s licenses have been suspended or revoked because the insurer is the subject of a proceeding.
  Among the exceptions are permitted setoff.

(e) Secured Claim

State insurance insolvency laws treat secured claims differently than unsecured claims.  A “secured claim” is defined as follows:

a claim secured by an asset that is not a general asset, but not including special deposit claims or a claim based on mere possession.  The right to set off as provided in Section 609 shall be a secured claim.  A secured claim shall not include any claim arising from a constructive or resulting trust.

A “general asset” is defined as follows:

(1) “General assets” includes all property of the estate that is not: (a) Subject to a properly perfected secured claim; (b) Subject to a valid and existing express trust for the security or benefit of specified persons or classes of persons; or (c) Required by the insurance laws of this state or any other state to be held for the benefit of specified persons or classes of persons.

(2) “General assets” includes all property of the estate or its proceeds in excess of the amount necessary to discharge claims described in [paragraph (1)].

The value of a security held by a secured creditor is to be determined by either (i) converting the security into money according to the terms of the agreement pursuant to which the security was delivered to the creditor, or (ii) by agreement or litigation between the creditor and the liquidator.
  This amount will be credited on the secured claim and the claimant may file a proof of claim for any deficiency, which shall be treated as an unsecured claim.

(f) Priority of Distribution

Any distribution of the insurer’s assets is subject to the following priority (each class must be completely satisfied before the next class shares in any distribution):

Class 1 – general administrative costs

Class 2 – guaranty association administration expenses

Class 3 – claims under policies (other than Class 4 claims)

Class 4 – claims under mortgage guaranty and financial guaranty policies or other forms of insurance offering protection against investment risk, or warranties

Class 5 – claims of the federal government

Class 6 – debts due employees for services and benefits

Class 7 – general unsecured creditor claims

Class 8 – claims of any state or local government

Class 9 – claims for penalties, punitive damages or forfeitures, unless expressly covered under the terms of a policy of insurance

Class 10 – certain late filed claims that would otherwise be classified in Classes 3 through 9

Class 11 – surplus notes, capital notes or contribution notes or similar obligations, and premium refunds on assessable policies

Class 12 – interest on allowed claims of Classes 1 through 11

Class 13 – claims of shareholders or other owners.

Thus, an important element of state insurance insolvency law is that policyholder claims are to be satisfied in full before unsecured creditor claims.

(g) Status of Policies of Failed Insurer

In insurer receiverships, policies of property/casualty insurers are usually cancelled on notice and property/casualty insurers are usually liquidated (if they cannot be rehabilitated) while the business of life insurers is continued and sold by the receiver to other solvent insurers.  The policy behind this is that property/casualty insurance policies are generally short-term liabilities (policies of a 12-month duration or less) and can easily be replaced while life insurance policies are generally long-term liabilities and cannot easily be replaced (e.g. the insureds are older and may no longer be insurable).
ARTICLE IX 

State Guaranty Association Laws

Section 9.1. Purpose of Guaranty Associations

When an insurer fails and is placed into rehabilitation or liquidation, claims under the policies of the failed insurer may be paid, in part, by state guaranty associations – non-profit legal entities created under state law whose members are licensed insurers that transact insurance in the state.
Section 9.2. Kinds of Guaranty Associations
There are usually two guaranty associations created in each state – one for property/casualty insurance and one for life and health insurance.

Section 9.3. Life and Health Guaranty Association

(a) Member Insurers

Under the NAIC Life and Health Insurance Guaranty Association Model Act, a “member insurer” of the life and health guaranty association is defined to mean an insurer licensed to transact in the state any kind of insurance for which coverage is provided by the guaranty association.  This includes an insurer whose license in the state has been suspended, revoked, not renewed or voluntarily withdrawn.  However, a member insurer excludes certain entities including health maintenance organizations and fraternal benefit societies.

(b) Coverage

Under the Model Act, the life and health guaranty association is created and coverage is provided for (i) direct, non-group life, health, or annuity policies or contracts (and supplemental contracts to all of these), (ii) certificates under direct group policies and contracts, and (iii) unallocated annuity contracts, in each case issued by member insurers.
  A member insurer means an insurer licensed to transact in the state any kind of insurance for which coverage is provided by the guaranty association.  This includes an insurer whose license in the state has been suspended, revoked, not renewed or voluntarily withdrawn.  Member insurers exclude certain entities including health maintenance organizations and fraternal benefit societies.
Persons covered under the Model Act are persons who, regardless of where they reside (except for nonresident certificate holders under group policies or contracts), are the beneficiaries, assignees or payees of the following persons: (i) persons who are owners of or certificate holders under the policies or contracts (other than unallocated annuity contracts, and structured settlement annuities) and in each case who (a) are residents, or (b) are not residents, but only under all of the following conditions: (x) the insurer that issued the policies or contracts is domiciled in the state, (y) the states in which the persons reside have associations similar to the association created by the Model Act, and (z) the persons are not eligible for coverage by an association in any other state due to the fact that the insurer was not licensed in the state at the time specified in the state’s guaranty association law.

(c) Exclusions

Under the Model Act, guaranty association coverage is not provided for certain classes of risks including: (i) the non-guaranteed portion of a policy or contract or portion under which the risk is borne by the policy or contract owner, (ii) a policy or contract of reinsurance (unless assumption certificates have been issued), (iii) a portion of a policy or contract to the extent that it provides for dividends or experience rating credits, voting rights, or payment of any fees or allowances to any person, including the policy or contract owner, in connection with the service to or administration of the policy or contract, and (iv) an obligation that does not arise under the express written terms of the policy or contract issued by the insurer to the contract owner or policy owner, including claims based on marketing materials, claims based on side letters, riders or other documents that were issued by the insurer without meeting applicable policy form filing or approval requirements, misrepresentations of or regarding policy benefits, extra-contractual claims or a claim for penalties or consequential or incidental damages.

(d) Amounts of Coverage

Under the Model Act, guaranty association benefits are not to exceed the lesser of, with respect to one life, regardless of the number of policies or contracts, (i) $300,000 in life insurance death benefits, but not more than $100,000 in net cash surrender and net cash withdrawal values for life insurance, (ii) in health insurance benefits, $100,000 for coverages not defined as disability insurance or basic hospital, medical and surgical insurance or major medical insurance including any net cash surrender and net cash withdrawal values, $300,000 for disability insurance, $500,000 for basic hospital medical and surgical insurance or major medical insurance, or (iii) $100,000 in the present value of annuity benefits, including net cash surrender and net cash withdrawal values.

(e) Assessments

The guaranty association covers the costs of providing benefits to policyholders by collecting the money it needs from other member insurers.  The amounts to be paid by other member insurers depends on how much insurance they write of the same kind or kinds of coverage (life, health, annuities) for which the guaranty association is collecting.  Annual assessments are capped at an amount expressed as a percentage of the member insurer’s previous year’s premiums written in the state.  The Model Act has a 2% annual assessment limit for each account subject to special rules for assessments for any subaccount.

The present Model Act has two accounts, a life insurance and annuity account and a health insurance account.  The life insurance and annuity account has 3 subaccounts:  life insurance, annuity and unallocated annuity subaccounts.

(f) Trigger of Guaranty Association Involvement

Under the Model Act, the guaranty association must act if a member insurer is insolvent (placed under an order of liquidation) or, subject to certain pre-conditions, if a member insurer is impaired (deemed by the insurance regulator to be potentially unable to fulfill its contractual obligations or placed under an order of rehabilitation or conservation) and is not paying claims timely.  The guaranty association may act, subject to specified conditions, if a domestic member insurer is impaired.

Section 9.4. Property/Casualty Guaranty Association
(a) Member Insurers

Under the NAIC Post-Assessment Property and Liability Insurance Guaranty Association Model Act, a “member insurer” of a property/casualty guaranty association is defined to mean any person who writes any kind of insurance to which the Model Act applies, including the exchange of reciprocal or inter-insurance contracts, and is licensed to transact insurance in the state (except at the option of the state).

(b) Coverage

Under the Model Act, the property/casualty guaranty association is created and the association coverage applies to all kinds of direct insurance except: (i) life, annuity, health or disability insurance, (ii) mortgage guaranty and financial guaranty, (iii) fidelity or surety bonds, (iv) credit insurance, (v) insurance of warranties or service contracts including insurance that provides reimbursement for the liability incurred by the issuer of agreements or service contracts that provide such benefits, (vi) title insurance, (vii) ocean marine insurance, (viii) any transaction or combination of transactions between a person (including affiliates of such person) and an insurer (including affiliates of such insurer) which involves the transfer of investment or credit risk unaccompanied by transfer of insurance risk, or (ix) any insurance provided by or guaranteed by government.

The guaranty association is obligated to pay a “covered claim” existing prior to an order of liquidation, arising within 30 days after the order of liquidation, or before the policy expiration date if less than 30 days after the order of liquidation, or before the insured replaces the policy or causes its cancellation, if the insured does so within 30 days of the order of liquidation.
  A “covered claim” is an unpaid claim, including one for unearned premiums, submitted by a claimant, which arises out of and is within the coverage and is subject to the applicable limits of a policy to which the Model Act applies, issued by an insurer and: (i) the claimant or insured is a resident of the state at the time of the insured event (for entities other than an individual, the residence of a claimant, insured or policyholder is the state in which its principal place of business is located at the time of the insured event), or (ii) the claim is a first party claim for damage to property with a permanent location in the state.

(c) Excluded Coverage

A “covered claim” does not include: (i) any amount awarded as punitive or exemplary damages, (ii) any amount sought as a return of premium under any retrospective rating plan, (iii) any amount due any reinsurer, insurer, insurance pool or underwriting association as subrogation recoveries, reinsurance recoveries, contribution, indemnification or otherwise, (iv) any first party claims by an insured whose net worth exceeds $25 million on December 31 of the year prior to the year in which the insurer becomes an insolvent insurer, or (v) any first party claims by an insured which is an affiliate of the insolvent insurer.

(d) Amount of Coverage

The amount of coverage available under the Model Act is as follows: (i) the full amount of a covered claim for benefits under a workers’ compensation insurance coverage, (ii) an amount not exceeding $10,000 per policy for a covered claim for the return of unearned premium, and (iii) an amount not exceeding $300,000 per claimant for all other covered claims.

(e) Assessments

The guaranty association is authorized to assess insurers’ amounts necessary to pay the obligations of the fund subsequent to an insolvency, the expenses of handling covered claims subsequent to an insolvency, and other expenses authorized by the Model Act.  The assessment of each member insurer is in the proportion that the net direct written premiums of the member insurer for the calendar year preceding the assessment bears to the net direct written premiums of all member insurers for the calendar year preceding the assessment.  A member insurer may not be assessed in any year by an amount greater than 2% of that member insurer’s net direct written premiums for the calendar year preceding the assessment.

(f) Trigger of Guaranty Association Coverage

The guaranty association covers claims of an “insolvent insurer,” which is defined to mean an insurer licensed to transact insurance in the state, either at the time the policy was issued or when the insured event occurred, and against whom a final order of liquidation has been entered with a finding of insolvency by a court of competent jurisdiction in the insurer’s state of domicile.

ARTICLE X 

Proposed Federal Regulation of Insurance

Section 10.1. Early Proposals for Federal Regulation of Insurance
While insurance has been regulated by the states since the beginning of insurance regulation in the mid-19th century, proposals for federal regulation of insurance are not new.  Among the prior proposals for federal regulation of insurance are the Dryden Bill S. 7277 (1905), the Dodd Bill S. 3919 (1966) and S. 688 (1967), the Magnuson Bill S. 2236 (1969), the Brooke Bill S. 3884 (1977), the Metzenbaum Bill S. 2474 (1980), the Dingell Bill H.R. 4900 (1992) and the H.R. 1290 (1993).  The genesis of each of these bills and the areas in which they proposed federal regulation of insurance are summarized in the following table:
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	Lack of uniformity of laws; insurers subject to local prejudice; over-supervision and over-regulation as evidenced by an excessive tax burden on life insurers
	Failure of 65 substandard automobile insurers in the 1960s
	Following large property-casualty insurer underwriting losses in 1974-75, concerns about the ability of state guaranty funds to insure failures
	Reports of widespread and systematic problems of availability and unfair discrimination in commercial property and personal property/casualty insurance
	Failure of insurers in late 1980s and early 1990s.  
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Section 10.2. Recent Proposals for Federal Regulation of Insurance

Earlier proposals for federal regulation of insurance were a result of a perceived failure of state insurance solvency regulation in individual situations or lack of guaranty fund protection.  The genesis for the proposals was Congress itself and not the U.S. insurance industry or state insurance regulators.

In contrast, recent proposals for federal regulation of insurance have been supported by important elements of the U.S. insurance industry.  These include the proposals that follow.

(a) The State Modernization and Regulatory Transparency Act

The “SMART” Act was released as a discussion draft by the staff of the House Committee on Financial Services in August 2004.  The draft did not provide for a federal regulator but instead sought to impose uniform standards on selected areas of state insurance regulation, based largely on model laws and standards of the NAIC and would have preempted non-conforming state laws and regulations.  Among the areas addressed were: (i) market conduct, (ii) insurer licensing, (iii) producer licensing, (iv) life insurance products, (v) property/casualty insurance products (commercial and personal), (vi) surplus lines and independently procured insurance, (vii) reinsurance, and (viii) receivership.  The draft was never introduced to Congress.

(b) Nonadmitted and Reinsurance Reform Act

The Nonadmitted and Reinsurance Reform Act of 2006 was introduced and sponsored by Representative Ginny Brown-Waite as H.R. 5637 on June 19, 2006.  This bill sought to impose uniform state rules for nonadmitted (surplus lines) insurance and reinsurance.  In the case of reinsurance, the bill deferred to domestic state regulation of reinsurance and preempts application of non-domiciliary state reinsurance laws and regulations.  This bill carved out two areas that were included in the SMART Act and dealt with them separately.  This bill was the subject of a hearing by the House Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Insurance, and Governmental Sponsored Enterprises on June 21, 2006.  The bill was amended by the House Committee on Financial Services on September 12, 2006,
 discharged by the Committee on Judiciary on September 22, 2006 and passed the House on September 27, 2006 (by a vote of 417 to 0).  The bill was referred to the Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs on November 13, 2006 without further action.
The bill was reintroduced in substantially the same form as amended in 2006 as the Nonadmitted and Reinsurance Reform Act of 2007, H.R. 1065, on February 15, 2007 by Representative Gwen Moore with 47 co-sponsors.  The bill was passed by the House on June 25, 2007 and referred to the Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs.  A related bill, S. 929, was introduced by Senator Mel Martinez on March 20, 2007 and was referred to the Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs.
(c) National Insurance Act of 2006

Unlike the SMART Act and the Nonadmitted and Reinsurance Reform Act of 2006, which seek to impose uniform state regulatory standards on state insurers on selected matters, the National Insurance Act of 2006 (the “NIA”) was a comprehensive bill that would establish a federal insurance regulator to supervise the activities of federally chartered insurers (“National Insurers”), federally chartered insurance agencies (“National Agencies”) and federally licensed insurance producers.  All aspects of regulation would be subject to federal standards – organization, licensing, financial, product and market regulation, reinsurance, corporate transactions, producers and holding company regulation.  A National Insurer would be subject to receivership under federal law.  Subject to limited exceptions, a National Insurer would not be subject to the application of state laws, including state insurance laws.  The effect would create two parallel insurance regulatory systems – an insurer could remain in the state system and not be subject to federal regulation or an insurer could opt into the federal system and not be subject to state regulation.  Hence, the legislation has been referred to as an “optional federal charter” (“OFC”) proposal.

The National Insurance Act of 2006 was introduced in the Senate as S. 2509 by Senators John E. Sununu and Tim Johnson on April 5, 2006 and in the House as H.R. 6225 by Representative Edward R. Royce on October 18, 2007.

(d) National Insurance Act of 2007

A new Congress, the 110th Congress, began in 2007.  Since both S. 2509 and H.R. 6225 were introduced in the 109th Congress, they did not carry over for consideration in 2007.
The NIA was reintroduced as legislation in the House and the Senate in 2007 – as S. 40 in the Senate on May 24, 2007 (sponsored again by Senators John E. Sununu and Tim Johnson) and H.R. 3200 in the House on July 26, 2007 (this time by Representatives Melissa Bean and Edward R. Royce).
Section 10.3. Summary of National Insurance Act of 2007

The NIA is made up of seven titles, each of which is summarized below.  This summary describes S. 40 and identifies some differences between S. 40 and H.R. 3200.

(a) Title I – Establishment of Office of the Insurance Commissioner
Regulatory Agency.  Title I establishes an Office of National Insurance in the Department of the Treasury headed by a single Commissioner of National Insurance.  The Commissioner is appointed to a five-year term by the President, with the advice and consent of the U.S. Senate.  The NIA establishes a Division of Insurance Fraud and Division of Consumer Affairs within the Office together with an Office of the Ombudsman.  The Ombudsman will act as a liaison between the Office and any National Insurer, National Agency, federally licensed insurance producer or insurer-affiliated party (which includes a director and officer of a National Insurer) adversely affected by the Office’s supervisory or regulatory activities.  The NIA authorizes the Commissioner to register insurance self-regulatory organizations (“SROs”) and supervise and regulate registered insurance SROs.  Membership in insurance SROs may consist exclusively of National Insurers, National Agencies, federally licensed insurance producers (the “Regulated Persons”) or any combination of these persons.

The Commissioner must oversee the organization, incorporation, operation, regulation and supervision of National Insurers and National Agencies.  The Commissioner is given broad powers to issue rules and regulations as the Commissioner determines necessary to carry out the purposes of the NIA.  Except as otherwise provided in the NIA, the Commissioner may delegate to any insurance SRO any power of the Commissioner.

Funding of the Office will be by assessments on Regulated Persons, together with fees imposed for examinations and processing various applications, filings statements, notices or requests for approval.  Start-up funds may be borrowed from the Secretary of the Treasury to be repaid with interest over a 30-year period.

Examination and Reports.  The Commissioner must examine National Insurers and National Agencies.  In the case of National Insurers, an on-site examination must be conducted by the Commissioner not less than once during each 36-month period.  In the case of National Agencies, the Commissioner may conduct an examination, only following a complaint or other evidence of violation of law, regulation, written condition or written agreement.  H.R.3200 deletes the word “only” suggesting that such complaints are a permissive but not exclusive basis for conducting an examination of a National Agency.  The Commissioner may also examine affiliates of National Insurers and National Agencies to the extent necessary to discover information concerning activities of an affiliate that may have a materially adverse effect on the operations, management or financial condition of the National Insurer or National Agency.  National Insurers must submit annual and quarterly financial statements to the Commissioner.

State Law Preemption.  State licensing, examination, reporting, regulation and supervision of Regulated Persons is preempted with certain exceptions, including: (i) state unclaimed property and escheat laws, (ii) state taxes and premium taxes (in accordance with specific provisions of the NIA), (iii) state laws relating to assigned risk and residual market plans subject to certain conditions, and (iv) compulsory coverage requirements for workers’ compensation and motor vehicle insurance.

Enforcement.  The NIA contains prescribed enforcement mechanisms that may be used by the Commissioner.  For National Insurers, the Commissioner may, under certain conditions, revoke or restrict or temporarily suspend or restrict the National Insurer’s Federal license, order a National Insurer to cease and desist from any violation or conduct (following notice and a hearing) and issue a temporary cease and desist order.  An insurer-affiliated party may, under certain circumstances and subject to notice and a hearing, be suspended or removed from office or prohibited from further participation in the conduct of the affairs of the National Insurer.  Lastly, criminal and civil penalties may be imposed on a National Insurer for certain violations, monetary penalties ranging from up to a maximum daily amount of $5,000 for first tier violations to $1,000,000 for third tier violations.

Insurance Fraud.  Many state laws make insurance fraud against a state insurer a crime.  Similarly, the NIA would make insurance fraud against a National Insurer a federal crime.  H.R.3200 actually makes insurance fraud against a state insurer a federal crime.  In addition, the NIA would require National Insurers to give a fraud warning to insurance applicants and claimants and report fraudulent insurance acts to the Commissioner.  Additional provisions (i) mandate restitution by persons that are convicted of committing insurance fraud, and (ii) authorize a civil action by a Regulated Person seeking to recover a return of profits, legal expenses and other economic damages from a person for injury they cause by committing a fraudulent insurance act, provided that they are not convicted of committing insurance fraud.

(b) Title II – National Insurance Companies and National Insurance Agencies

Organization and Licensing.  Title II provides for the organization and licensing of National Insurers and National Agencies.  Alien insurers may establish a U.S. branch that is treated as a National Insurer under the NIA.  National Life Insurers and National Property/Casualty Insurers may be licensed but may not sell, solicit, negotiate or underwrite health insurance.  In addition, a National Insurer may not issue title insurance.  Since there is no federal corporation law, a National Insurer must adhere to the corporate governance procedures of the relevant state law of the state in which its main office (or its holding company’s main office) is located.  A National Life Insurer in mutual form must elect to either adhere to participating policy procedures of the relevant law of the state in which its main office is located or adhere to the participating policy procedures established by regulation by the Commissioner.  The main office is designated in its bylaws.  The NIA provides that National Insurers will have specific enumerated powers including the usual corporate power to sue and be sued, make contracts, guarantees, borrow money, own real and personal property, lend money and elect directors, officers, employees and agents and the power to engage in all other insurance operations and exercise all such incidental powers as are necessary to carry on insurance operations.  Like existing state law, National Life Insurers will have the power to establish separate accounts and all National Insurers will have the power to establish protected cells.

Conversion.  Like federal banking law, the NIA provides for conversion by a state insurer to a National Insurer and a conversion by a National Insurer to a state insurer.  Thus, existing state insurers will be able to convert to National Insurers under the NIA.

Financial Regulation.  The core financial regulations applicable to National Insurers will initially be consistent with standards of the NAIC in effect on the date of introduction of the NIA, including standards for accounting, auditing, investments, risk-based capital, valuation of obligations and liabilities of a National Life Insurer, nonforfeiture benefits applicable to a National Life Insurer and annual actuarial opinions.  These standards will be established by regulations and will remain in effect for five years.  During that five-year period, the Commissioner may (i) accept or reject NAIC amendments to state rules as applicable to National Insurers, in whole or in part, and (ii) make other revisions if the Commissioner determines that the revision is necessary to protect policyholders or prevent hazardous conduct by a National Insurer.  After that five-year period, the Commissioner may make any desired changes to the core financial regulations.  In addition, the Commissioner may issue other financial regulations at any time.  However, the accounting provisions for a National Property/Casualty Insurer must be consistent with the NAIC accounting practices and procedures, including any amendments thereto.  Thus, a National Property/Casualty Insurer will forever be subject to accounting rules tied to state statutory accounting practices.

Product Regulation.  The NIA provisions relating to National Life Insurer products include underwriting standards, provisions relating to the law applicable to insurance policies, a requirement that the Commissioner establish (by regulation) standards for insurance policies issued by National Life Insurers, authority to issue certain group, blanket and franchise insurance policies and insurable interest rules (to be established by regulation).  A National Life Insurer will be required to deliver a copy of a policy form to the Commissioner, certified as complying with the applicable product standards, before issuing the policy form to the public.

A National Property/Casualty Insurer will be required to maintain for inspection every policy form it uses and annually submit a list of standard policy forms it uses to the Commissioner.  The NIA provides that the Commissioner is not authorized to require a National Property/Casualty Insurer to use any particular rate, rating element, price or form.

The Commissioner must promulgate certain market conduct regulations including rules governing the advertising, sale, issuance, distribution, and administration of insurance policies and other products of National Insurers and claims under insurance policies and other products of National Insurers.

Prompt Corrective Action.  Under the NIA, the Commissioner must promulgate regulations that the Commissioner determines appropriate and consistent with the recommendation in a report to be made by the Comptroller General of the United States to ensure that prompt corrective action is taken to resolve any hazardous financial condition of a National Insurer.  Among the things the Comptroller must consider in preparing the report are the prompt corrective action requirements under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act applicable to insured depository institutions.

Reinsurance.  The Commissioner may license insurers that are not National Insurers to provide reinsurance.  For example, a state insurer or an alien (non-U.S.) insurer may seek to become a federally licensed reinsurer.  H.R.3200 includes some additional standards for licensing of a federally licensed reinsurer than those contained in S.40.  A National Insurer will be allowed credit for insurance ceded to the following insurers: (i) another National Insurer, (ii) a federally licensed reinsurer, or (iii) so long as the insurance ceded is consistent with standards to be established by the Commissioner, a state insurer, or a United States branch of a non-U.S. insurer entered through a state or a non-U.S. insurer.  The Commissioner is required to establish, by regulation, standards governing insurance ceded by a National Insurer, as the Commissioner may determine to be necessary to protect the policyholders of a National Insurer (the “Reinsurance Regulations”).  The Reinsurance Regulations may, but are not required to, involve the posting of security by the reinsurer.

The NIA seeks to bar a state from denying credit for insurance ceded by a National Insurer or a federally licensed insurer to a state insurer or a United States branch of a non-U.S. insurer entered through a state through provisions that (i) generally bar a state from denying insurance credit for these cessions, (ii) completely bar a non-domiciliary state from imposing any rules to prevent or interfere with such cessions, and (iii) generally bar a state from denying credit for these cessions because the reinsurance contract includes or omits one or more specific contract terms or otherwise requires specific language or terms in a reinsurance contract.  Notwithstanding these state prohibitions, a domiciliary state may mandate, as a condition of credit, reinsurance contract terms that are substantially equivalent to those required by the Commissioner under the Reinsurance Regulations.  Furthermore, the Commissioner is authorized to review and decide whether any such state mandate is substantially equivalent to those required by the Commissioner under the Reinsurance Regulations.

Corporate Transactions.  The NIA also provides for supervision of certain corporate transactions involving a National Insurer including the acquisition of control of a National Insurer, mergers involving a National Insurer (including a merger of a National Insurer and a state insurer), a bulk transfer (the name given in the NIA to a transaction that has a purpose similar to “assumption reinsurance”), a reorganization of a U.S. branch of an alien insurer as a National Insurer in stock form, a stock-to-mutual conversion and a mutual-to-stock conversion.

State Taxation.  Subject to certain exceptions, a National Insurer doing business in a state will be subject to applicable state and local taxes, assessments and charges including insurance retaliatory taxes and will be entitled to all applicable tax credits, deductions and offsets provided under state law to the extent and in the same manner as an insurer licensed to do business in a state and chartered in the state where the National Insurer is considered domiciled.   Special rules apply to the state of domicile designated by a National Insurer for state taxation purposes.  Therefore, the NIA will not deny a state tax revenue just because the insurer doing business in the state is a National Insurer.

(c) Title III – Insurance Producers and Other Insurance Servicing Persons

Licensing, Examination and Reporting.  Title III provides for federal licensing of insurance producers and National Agencies.  A federal producer license may authorize a person to sell, solicit or negotiate surplus lines and nonadmitted insurance.  The NIA provides that a federal producer license allows a person to “sell, solicit, or negotiate insurance in any state for any line or lines of insurance specified in such license.”  An insurance producer licensed by a state may sell, solicit, or negotiate insurance in each state on behalf of a National Insurer without a federal producer license.  Federally licensed insurance producers are subject to examination and reporting requirements.  The NIA would also bar states from regulating insurance adjusters, reinsurance intermediaries and third party administrators that act for National Insurers.

Supervision.  The NIA includes provisions relating to supervision of the sales and marketing practices of a federally licensed insurance producer that is an individual.  A National Insurer has a duty to supervise such a person with respect to the sale, solicitation or negotiation of its insurance policies if (i) the producer is an employee or agent, and (ii) the entire or principal activity of the producer is devoted to these acts for the National Insurer.  Similarly, a National Agency or other federally licensed insurance producer (each effectively acting as a general agent) has the duty to supervise such a person with respect to the sale, solicitation or negotiation of the insurance policies of a National Insurer if (i) the producer is an employee of the National Agency or other federally licensed insurance producer, and the sale, solicitation, and negotiation of insurance is within the scope of employment of the producer; or (ii) the producer is an agent of the National Agency or other federally licensed insurance producer, and the sale, solicitation, and negotiation of insurance is pursuant to the terms of an agreement between the agent and the National Agency or other federally licensed insurance producer.  If a federally licensed insurance producer is not subject to supervision by a National Insurer, National Agency or other federally licensed insurance producer under either of these rules, then that producer will be subject to the direct oversight of the Commissioner.

The Commissioner is required to establish, by regulation, standards for supervision which are not to conflict with the rules of the NASD.  This will assure that, with respect to the sale of variable contracts by National Life Insurers, the insurance supervision rules under the NIA are not in conflict with existing federal securities law supervision rules.

Lastly, the above supervision rules will not apply to a wholesale life insurance brokerage agency as that term is defined by the Commissioner.

(d) Title IV – Holding Companies

Following the kind of regulatory requirements found in state insurance laws, the NIA would regulate a National Insurer that is a member of an insurance holding company in the following respects: (i) regulation of extraordinary dividends, (ii) required registration of such a National Insurer, (iii) standards imposed on transactions between a registered National Insurer and its affiliates, and (iv) required Commissioner approval or non-disapproval of certain affiliate transactions involving a National Insurer.

(e) Title V – Receivership

Instead of following a state insurance insolvency law model in which a court appoints the state insurance regulator as receiver, the NIA provides for an administrative receivership in which the Commissioner appoints his Office as the receiver of a National Insurer.  This follows the federal banking law model in which a non-judicial receiver (the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation) is appointed for insured national banks.

The grounds for appointing a receivership are based on a mixture of state insurance insolvency law triggers (e.g., insolvency, hazardous financial condition) and federal banking law triggers (e.g., concealment, consent, money laundering).

The only express substantive receivership provision is one relating to the powers and duties of the receiver, which is based on state insurance insolvency law models.  The remainder of the procedural and substantive receivership provisions (including those relating to automatic stays and other stays of proceedings, procedures and priorities for the allowance and disallowance of claims and standards for the treatment of reinsurance) will be subject to standards to be established by the Commissioner by regulation, which regulation is to be substantially similar to the corresponding provisions of the Uniform Receivership Law adopted by the Interstate Insurance Receivership Compact Commission in September 1998.  Furthermore, in order to facilitate insolvency protection of consumers pursuant to Title VI (Insolvency Protection), the Commissioner’s regulation must contain provisions that are substantially similar to certain provisions of the NAIC Life and Health Insurance Guaranty Association Model Act, as in effect on the date of introduction of the NIA, and the NAIC Insurer Receivership Model Act, promulgated in December 2005.

(f) Title VI – Insolvency Protection

Title VI provides for protection for policy obligations of failed insurers.  The NIA requires that a National Insurer become a member of the relevant state guaranty association in each “qualified state” in which it does business and pay assessments to that association – the state life guaranty association for National Life Insurers and the state property/casualty guaranty association for National Property/Casualty Insurers.  The Commissioner is to make a determination of whether a state is a “qualified state” based on criteria set forth in the NIA and to publish a list of qualified and non-qualified states.  The NIA requires that the Commissioner publish a list of qualified states for Title VI guaranty fund coverage purposes not later than three years after the date of enactment of the Act.  If a National Insurer or state insurer fails and has outstanding obligations under policies in a qualified state, the relevant state guaranty association in that qualified state will respond as to policies affording coverage in that state.

If there is one or more state that is not a qualified state, the NIA requires that the Commissioner establish a National Insurance Guaranty Corporation (“NIGC”) whose members are all National Insurers and state insurers doing business in a state that is not a qualified state.  Members exclude entities such as a health maintenance organization, a fraternal benefit society, a surplus lines insurer, a risk retention group and another non-admitted or unlicensed insurer.  The NIGC will provide benefits to policyholders of a National Insurer and a state insurer that is doing business in a state that is not a qualified state and is placed in receivership, whether by the Commissioner under NIA Title V or a state insurance regulator under a state insurance insolvency law.  In the case of life lines of insurance, the Commissioner must establish, by regulation, the lines of insurance covered, the scope of coverage, defenses, exclusions, and the coverage limits on benefits for policyholders.  These regulations must be substantially similar to the NAIC Life and Health Insurance Guaranty Association Model Act as in effect on the date of introduction of the NIA.  However, the NIA provides for express provisions regarding coverage exclusions and benefits which are patterned after the NAIC model law.  In the case of property/casualty lines of insurance, the NIA includes express provisions regarding the lines of insurance covered, the scope of coverage, exclusions, and the coverage limits on benefits for policyholders.

(g) Title VII – Conforming Amendments and Miscellaneous Provisions

Title VII includes a provision barring a state from discriminating against state insurers or producers under certain circumstances, including those declaring an intention to convert to a federal charter.

State insurers are generally exempt from the federal antitrust laws under the McCarran Ferguson Act.  Title VII includes a provision that will subject National Insurers to the federal antitrust laws subject to limited exceptions (e.g., development, dissemination and use of standard insurance policy forms).

This Title also grants federal court jurisdiction over civil court actions commenced in the United States against any Regulated Person.  Venue will be had in the judicial district where the insurer or agency is located.  Judicial review of an order of the Commissioner by a National Insurer or National Agency may be had in the United States Court of Appeals within any circuit wherein the party has its main office or in the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia.

Other conforming amendments are made to the following federal laws to accommodate National Insurers and National Agencies:  Freedom of Information Act, federal securities laws, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act and the Fair Credit Reporting Act.

(h) NIA Timetable

The NIA contemplates the following timetable after its enactment and before the first National Insurer is chartered under the Act: (i) the Commissioner is appointed by the President and confirmed by the Senate, (ii) the Commissioner issues insurance SRO regulations (not later than two years after date of enactment), (iii) the Commissioner publishes, in interim final form, the specific non-financial regulations listed in NIA §1211(a) (not later than two years after Senate confirmation of the Commissioner), (iv) the Commissioner publishes NIA §1212(a) financial regulations in final form (tied to NAIC standards and models adopted as of the date of introduction of the NIA) (no later than two years after Senate confirmation of the Commissioner), and (v) the Commissioner publishes notice announcing that the Office is prepared to act on chartering and licensing applications (the date the Commissioner publishes, in interim final form, the last of the specific regulations listed in NIA §1211(a)).

Section 10.4. Recent Congressional Hearings – Insurance Regulation Reform

Modernization of U.S. insurance regulation continues to be a topic of Congressional hearings.

On July 11, 2006 and July 18, 2006, the U.S. Senate Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs held two hearings addressing U.S. insurance regulation reform.  While the purpose of the hearings was to determine how U.S. insurance regulation can be strengthened and modernized, many witnesses commented on the NIA (then S. 2509).

On October 3, 2007 and October 30, 2007, the U.S. House Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Insurance, and Government Sponsored Enterprises held two hearings addressing U.S. insurance regulatory reform.  As in the 2006 Senate hearings, some witnesses used the hearings as an opportunity to comment on an support the NIA (H.R. 3200).  Some witnesses, including the NAIC, rejected the NIA as a desired approach to U.S. insurance regulatory reform.
� 	The Metzenbaum Bill did not provide for federal regulation of insurers, but in lines such as property, homeowners, tenants and personal automobile the McCarran-Ferguson Act antitrust immunity would have been conditioned upon states regulating insurance subject to certain standards (classifications and territories, rate differentials, readability, rate filings, discrimination, availability, agent protections).





� 	8 Wall 168, 19 L. Ed. 357 (1869).


� 	L. 1859, c. 366.


� 	L. 1892, c. 690.


� 	New York State, Report of Joint Committee of the State and Assembly of the State of New York to Investigate and Examine into the Business and Affairs of Life Insurance Companies Doing Business in the State of New York (J.B. Lyon Co., ed., Albany 1906).


� 	L. 1939, c. 882.


� 	322 U.S. 533, 64 S. Ct. 1162, 8 L. Ed. 1440 (1944).


� 	59 Stat. 33, ch. 20, § 2.


� 	Prudential Ins. Co. v. Benjamin, 326 U.S. 408, 66 S. Ct. 1142, 90 L. Ed. 1342 (1946).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 4202(a).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. §§ 1322 and 1324


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. § 307(a) (New York requirement for filing an annual financial statement) and § 308 and New York Insurance Department Circular Letter 1999-15 (Apr. 27, 1999) (Change in procedure for the mailing of hard copy annual and quarterly statement forms and instructions) (New York requirement for filing a quarterly financial statement).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. § 307(a)(2)  (annual statement) and New York Insurance Department Circular Letter 1999-15 (Apr. 27, 1999) (quarterly statement).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.2, Model Regulation Requiring Annual Audited Financial Statements § 4 (Model 205).


� 	Id. § 5.


� 	In New York, the Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual has been adopted by the New York Superintendent of Insurance subject to designated conflicts and exceptions (mostly conflicts with existing state law).  See 11 N.Y.C.R.R. pt. 83.


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.2, Risk-Based Capital (RBC) Model Act § 2.A (Model 312).


� 	Id. § 5.B.


� 	Id. § 1.J.


� 	Id. § 3.


� 	Id. § 6.B.


� 	Id. § 8.


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.3, Insurance Holding Company System Regulatory Act § 3.A (Model 440).


� 	See Conn. Gen. Stat. § 38a-132(a)(1).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.3, Insurance Holding Company System Model Regulation With Reporting Forms and Instructions, Form A (attached as an appendix) (Model 450).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.3, Insurance Holding Company System Regulatory Act § 5.A(1) (Model 440).


� 	Id. § 5.A(2).


� 	Many states use a “greater of” approach for extraordinary dividends.  See Ill. Rev. Stat. c. 215, § 131.20a.


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.3, Insurance Holding Company System Regulatory Act § 3.B (Model 440).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. 4207(b)(1).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.3, Model Law on Examinations § 3.A (Model 390).


� 	Id.


� 	Id. § 5.C.


� 	Id. § 5.E(1).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. § 313(a).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. § 1413 (regulates investment of licensed foreign and alien insurer on a substantial compliance basis).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.2, Investments of Insurers Model Act (Defined Limits Version) (Model 280).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.2, Investments of Insurers Model Act (Defined Standards Version) (Model 283).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. §§ 1402, 1403, 1405, 1406 and 1409 (for life insurers) and N.Y. Ins. L. §§ 1402, 1403, 1404, 1407, 1408 and 1409 (for property/casualty insurers).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. Art. 17 (life insurer subsidiaries) and N.Y. Ins. L. Art. 16 (property/casualty insurer subsidiaries).


� 	Alaska Stat. § 21.90.900(36).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Credit For Reinsurance Model Act (Model 785).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Credit For Reinsurance Model Regulation (Model 786).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Credit For Reinsurance Model Act § 2 (Model 785).


� 	Id. § 3.


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. § 1308(a)(2).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Credit For Reinsurance Model Act § 2.F (Model 785) and National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Credit For Reinsurance Model Regulation § 13.B (Model 786).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Life and Health Reinsurance Agreements Model Regulation § 5.C(1) (Model 791) (life and health) and National Association of Insurance Commissioner, Accounting Practice and Procedures Manual as of March 2007, SSAP No. 62, ¶ 8(c) (property/casualty).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Life and Health Reinsurance Agreements Model Regulation § 4.A(8) (Model 791) (life and health) and National Association of Insurance Commissioner, Accounting Practice and Procedures Manual as of March 2007, SSAP No. 62, ¶ 8(d) (property/casualty).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Life and Health Reinsurance Agreements Model Regulation § 4.A(6) (Model 791) (life and health) and National Association of Insurance Commissioner, Accounting Practice and Procedures Manual as of March 2007, SSAP No. 62, ¶ 9-16 (property/casualty).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 3201(b)(1).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 3201(b)(6).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 3201(c)(2).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 2307(b).


� 	Id.


� 	Pub. L. 107-297.


� 	See New York Insurance Department, Circular Letter No. 25 (2002) (Dec. 23, 2002).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 2305(b).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 2310(a).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 2344 and 11 N.Y.C.R.R. pt. 161.


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 2303.


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 3231(d).


� 	Id.


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Unfair Trade Practices Act § 3 (Model 880).


� 	Id. § 4.A (misrepresentation), 4.D (boycott), 4.G (unfair discrimination) and 4.H (rebates).  Also see N.Y. Ins. L. §§ 2606 and 2607 (protected classes).


� 	Id. § 8.


� 	Id. § 1.


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Unfair Claims Settlement Practices Act § 3 (Model 900).


� 	Id. § 4.E-G.


� 	Id. § 6.


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Unfair Life, Accident and Health Claims Settlement Practices Model Regulation (Model 903).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Unfair Property/Casualty Claims Settlement Practices Model Regulation (Model 902).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. 109(a).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. § 1102(a) (penalty for doing an insurance business without a license – penalty for a first violation and subsequent violations).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. 109(a).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. § 307(a)(4) (per diem penalty for an insurer’s delay in filing its annual statement).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 327(a).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 327(b).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 1102(d).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 1102(e)(2).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 109(a).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.3, Insurer Receivership Model Act § 206.P (Model 555).


� 	Fla. Stat.. Ann. § 624.4211(2).


� 	Fla. Stat.. Ann. § 624.4211(4).


� 	Md. Ins. Code Ann. § 4-113(d)(2).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. § 2101(a).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. § 2101(c).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. § 2116.


� 	See National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.2, Producer Licensing Model Act § 14 (optional) (Model 218).


� 	See National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.2, Producer Licensing Model Act (Model 218).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 2102(b)(3).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. § 1102(a).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. § 1101(b)(2)(F).


� 	See N.Y. Ins. L. §§ 2118 and 2130 and 11 N.Y.C.R.R. pt. 41.


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Nonadmitted Insurance Model Act § 3.O (Model 870).


� 	Id. § 5.H(1).


� 	Id. § 5.H(2).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.5, Reinsurance Intermediary Model Act § 2.F (Model 790).


� 	Id. § 2.G.


� 	Id. § 3.A.


� 	Id. § 3.B.


� 	See National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.2, Managing General Agents Act § 2.D (Model 225).


� 	Id. § 3.A.


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.1, Third Party Administrator Statute § 1.A (Model 90).


� 	Id. §§ 1.A(3) and 1.A(18).


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. §§ 2101(g) and 2108.


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.2, Public Adjusters Licensing Model Act § 2.H (Model 228).


� 	There is a limited licensing exception under N.Y. Ins. L. § 2101(g)(1)(F) for “any agent or other representative of an insurer authorized to issue life and annuity contracts, provided he receives no compensation for such services.”


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.2, Producer Licensing Model Act § 12.a(2) (Model 218).


� 	For more details on the NAIC and its functions, its website is located at www.naic.org.


� 	N.Y. Ins. L. § 1414(g).


� 	11 U.S.C. § 109(b) provides that “A person may be a debtor under chapter 7 of this title only if such person is not - . . . (2) a domestic insurance company . . .”  11 U.S.C. § 109(d) provides that “Only a  . . . person that may be a debtor under chapter 7 of this title . . . may be a debtor under chapter 11 of this title.”


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.3, Model Regulation to Define Standards and a Commissioner’s Authority For Companies Deemed to Be in Hazardous Financial Condition § 4.B (Model 385).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.3, Administrative Supervision Model Act § 3.A (Model 558).


� 	Id. § 5.


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.3, Insurer Receivership Model Act §§ 207.B and 207.I (Model 555).


� 	Id. § 202.


� 	Id. §§ 401.A and 501.A.


� 	Id. § 208.


� 	Id. Art. VI.


� 	Id. Art. VIII.


� 	Id. § 108.C.


� 	Id. § 108.E(4).


� 	Id. § 104.BB.


� 	Id. § 104.K.


�	Id. § 710.A.


� 	Id. § 710.C.


� 	Id. § 801 (Alternative 1).


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.3, Life And Health Insurance Guaranty Association Model Act § 5.L. (Model 520).


� 	Id. § 3.B.


� 	Id. § 3.A.


� 	Id. § 3.B(2).


� 	Id. § 3.C(2)(a).


� 	Id. § 9.


� 	Id. § 6.A.


� 	Id. §§ 8.A and 8.B.


� 	National Association of Insurance Commissioners, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, v.3, Post-Assessment Property and Liability Insurance Guaranty Association Model Act § 5.H (Model 540).


� 	Id. § 3.


� 	Id. § 8.A(1)(a).


� 	Id. §§ 5.F(1) and 5.F(2).


� 	Id. § 5.F(3).


� 	Id. § 8.A(1)(a).


� 	Id. § 8.A(3).


� 	Id.  §§ 8.A(1)(a) and 5.G.


� 	See H. Rept. 109-649, Part I.
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